### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Michael Alan Lee,	) Supreme Court Case No.: 76330					
Petitioner/Appellant	Electronically Filed Feb 06 2019 12:35 p.m.					
VS.	) APPELLANT'S REPENTABLE A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court					
Brian E. Williams, Sr., Warden High						
Desert State Prison,	)					
Respondent,	j					
	)					
and	)					
	)					
The State of Nevada,	)					
Real Party in Interest	)					
	)					

Mayfield, Gruber & Sheets DAMIAN SHEETS, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 10577 726 S. Casino Center Blvd. Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 598-1299 Attorney for Appellant Michael Alan Lee

#### **MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES**

## 1. Failure to Object to Improper Jury Instructions

In Appellant's Opening Brief to this Court, he argued that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge jury instructions that permitted a finding of guilt for felony murder by child neglect in violation of *Labastida v.* State, 115 Nev. 298, 302-03, 986 P.2d 443, 446 (1999). Appellant also preemptively addressed the State's argument, originally raised in District Court ,that "no such error was possible because the State never argued that Defendant could have allowed Brodie to die through neglect" (Appellant's Opening Brief, 16). In responding to this argument, Appellant noted that the jury is advised and admonished several times that the jury instructions provided to them - not the closing argument made by the State - is the governing law in this case, and therefore the State's actual argument made does not obviate the error of a jury instruction that permitted a finding of guilt on the improper basis of neglect.

In their Answering Brief, the State addressed Appellant's arguments by raising the exact same argument raised in District Court – "In the instant case, no such error was possible because the State never argued that Appellant could have allowed Brodie to die through neglect" (Respondent's Answering

Brief, 16). However, as noted previously, the actual contents of the State's argument are not relevant when the jury is given an instruction that permits them to find Appellant guilty based on neglect. Although the State assumes that the jury found him guilty based on their theory of the case, this is pure speculation and conjecture.

To support their position, the State factually differentiates *Labastida* from the instant case. In *Labastida*, it is true that the jury acquitted the defendant of child abuse, but then found him guilty of felony murder, thereby implying that he was found guilty of murder under a theory of neglect. However, from this case the Nevada Supreme Court made a *universally applicable* rule of law that the jury instruction given was facially improper because felony murder cannot be accomplished by child neglect.

Additionally, the State's argument (that no error exists because the State did not argue neglect) was directly rejected in *Thompson v. State*, No. 65538, 2016 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 79 (Jan. 22, 2016). The State's Answering Brief includes one quotation from *Thompson*, that "[b]ecause of the State's argument, it is unclear whether the jury convicted Thompson of first degree felony murder for conducted prohibited by the felony murder statute or for

conduct merely prohibited by NRS 200.508" (State's Answering Brief, 16). However, this quotation is misleading and out of context.

Initially, the quotation makes it appear as though *Thompson* involved arguments of both child abuse and neglect, and therefore it was unclear on which basis the jury convicted him. To the contrary, the argument in *Thompson* which created the error was not the State's discussion of abuse versus neglect, but rather the reference to the improper jury instruction itself. "We further conclude that this error prejudiced Thompson because the State emphasized in its closing argument the jury's ability to find Thompson guilty of felony murder by child abuse **under the erroneous language contained in instructions 10 and 11**." *Thompson*, No. 65538 (2016) (emphasis added).

In *Thompson*, as in this case, the State only sought to convict on the basis of abuse. It was the State's reference to the improper jury instructions – not the State's theory of abuse or neglect – that resulted in error and reversal. The same error occurred in this case. Like in *Thompson*, the State argued only a theory of abuse but emphasized "the jury's ability to find Thompson guilty of felony murder by child abuse under the erroneous language contained in instructions" 7 and 10. Thus, even assuming a factual difference between the instant case and *Labastida* would preclude application of *Labastida*'s rule of

law, there is very little difference between this case and *Thompson*, which also applied the rule of law in *Labastida* and also resulted in reversal.

In response to the prejudice prong on this point, the State argues that "[h]ad counsel challenged the jury instructions, and had those instructions replaced the instructions given, Appellant would have still been found guilty" (State's Answering Brief, 20). This, too, is pure speculation and conjecture. Appellant's prejudice is apparent in his conviction that was derived from a jury instruction which the Nevada Supreme Court has ruled is improper on its face and grounds for a new trial. Appellant remains entitled to, and would have been granted, a new trial on this basis.

In summation, trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the improper jury instructions used by the State permitting a finding of guilt for felony murder based on either abuse or neglect. The State does not oppose the impropriety of the instructions themselves, but rather only argues the error is harmless because the State only argued for a conviction based on abuse. However, the mere assumption that the jury agreed with the State's theory remains only an assumption, as the jury was given two avenues to convict Appellant and it will remain unknown if even one juror convicted Appellant on the improper basis of neglect in the event he did not believe Appellant was

abusive. This potential for an erroneous conviction is what led to a reversal in *Thompson* under very similar facts, and it would have been basis for a reversal here. For this reason, appellate counsel is similarly ineffective for failure to raise this matter on direct appeal.

# 2. Ineffective and Unqualified Trial Counsel

Here, with all due respect to the State, the Answering Brief would seemingly take an opinion and base it as a fact. Specifically, the State argues that Appellant's trial counsel was effective because "a review of the court filings demonstrate that counsel argued, before, during, and after trial, effectively on behalf of her client" (State's Answering Brief, 21). Appellant would disagree with the State's opinion on this point, and contends that Appellant's first-chair trial counsel was in fact not effective.

Again, on this point the State also raises the same arguments that were raised in the District Court. In Appellant's Opening Brief, he argued that the mere physical presence of "at least one attorney" who was qualified does not alleviate the ineffective representation of his first-chair counsel during four-fifths of the proceedings. The law requires effective assistance of counsel during the entirety of the trial process, not only during certain portions where

stand-by counsel assumed first-chair duties. In response, the State again argues that "Appellant, therefore, cannot demonstrate prejudice because he was represented at trial by at least one attorney who he admits was not ineffective" (State's Answering Brief, 22).

Additionally, the State claims that "Appellant had an extensive criminal history, which made him aware that a Public Defender could be appointed." Aside from also being entirely speculative regarding Appellant's subjective knowledge of the legal system, it also misses the point – not that a public defender could be appointed, but that he would be appointed an experienced attorney from a dedicated team that specializes in homicide cases.<sup>1</sup>

Lastly, the State failed to address several facets of Appellant's argument raised in his Opening Brief. The State simply notes that Appellant was canvassed regarding his choice of counsel prior to the commencement of trial; however, the State does not address the numerous instances where Ms. Von Magdenko was ineffective during the trial.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In the State's Answering Brief, they also raise an argument that appears to be copied from the District Court brief regarding this Court's Order of Affirmance and opening the door to autopsy photos. However, this is a response to a non-existent argument, as Appellant never raised nor mentioned this point in his Opening Brief to this Court, and therefore Appellant will not address this portion of the State's response.

The State fails to address Appellant's contention that Ms. Von Magdenko was ineffective for asserting inconsistent defenses in her opening statements, and defenses inconsistent with even her own expert witness; the State fails to address how Ms. Von Magdenko was ineffective for failing to object when advised to by Mr. Altig; the State fails to address how Ms. Von Magdenko was ineffective for being unprepared and unable to conduct cross examination of the lead detective in this case; and the State fails to address how Ms. Von Magdenko was ineffective for being unprepared and unable to conduct the closing arguments.

Because the State's Answering Brief seems to be only a copy of the arguments made in District Court, numerous portions of Appellant's Opening Brief remain unopposed. As such, Appellant requests this Court treat the unopposed assertions of ineffectiveness as a confession of error. "We have also determined that a party confessed error when that party's answering brief effectively failed to address a significant issue raised in the appeal." *Polk v. State*, 126 Nev. 180, 185, 233 P.3d 357, 360 (2010) (citing *Bates v. Chronister*, 100 Nev. 675, 681–82, 691 P.2d 865, 870 (1984) (treating the respondent's failure to respond to the appellant's argument as a confession of error); *A Minor v. Mineral Co. Juv. Dep't*, 95 Nev. 248, 249, 592 P.2d 172, 173

(1979) (determining that the answering brief was silent on the issue in question, resulting in a confession of error); *Moore v. State*, 93 Nev. 645, 647, 572 P.2d 216, 217 (1977) (concluding that even though the State acknowledged the issue on appeal, it failed to supply any analysis, legal or otherwise, to support its position and "effect[ively] filed no brief at all," which constituted confession of error)).

Respondent argues throughout the pleadings that Appellant is not entitled to relief because he only presented "bare" and "naked" allegations (State's Answering Brief, 10, 14, 21). However, claims of ineffective assistance of counsel can be difficult to substantiate within the limited box of information that is "on the record," which is precisely why an evidentiary hearing is necessary. In this case, many of the claims of ineffective assistance are substantiated on the record, such as the instances in which Mr. Altig had to step out of his role as stand-by counsel to assume first-chair duties. On the other hand, the qualifications and preparedness of Ms. Von Magdenko are topics that can only be fully explored through an evidentiary hearing.

Had there been an evidentiary hearing, for example, Mr. Altig would have been able to inform the District Court that he was asked to take over the cross examination of the lead detective *the morning of* his testimony; he would

have stated that Ms. Von Magdenko actually asked him to do cross examination of another significant witness less than two hours before his testimony, which he was unable to do and thereby forced Ms. Von Magdenko to conduct a cross examination she was unprepared for; that Mr. Altig actually expressed his concerns to the State twice during the trial regarding Ms. Von Magdenko's effectiveness; that Mr. Altig advised Ms. Von Magdenko at least ten separate times to object, which she ignored; and that Mr. Altig informed Ms. Von Magdenko prior to trial that her expert did not support her defense theory of an accidental injury, yet Ms. Magdenko asserted this defense anyway. Lastly, an evidentiary hearing would fully articulate how Ms. Von Magdenko not only contradicted her own expert witness, but how she failed to recognize that both her expert witness and the State's expert witness each provided a time range for when the fatal blow was inflicted on Brodie, and the only overlap in time between the two experts was a period when Brodie was alone with Arica Foster, not Appellant.

To conclude, Appellant raised numerous instances of ineffective assistance of counsel, with the vast majority of them being unopposed or unaddressed in the State's Answering Brief. At the very minimum, Appellant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing to further articulate the instances in which

trial counsel was ineffective, and how those instances prejudiced him by resulting in an unsound conviction. Appellant is facing life without the possibility of parole; he is entitled not only to a fair trial, but the basic due process protections that would enable him to substantiate his claims that his conviction is otherwise improper.

## **CONCLUSION**

For these reasons, Appellant Michael Alan Lee respectfully requests this Court remand the matter for an evidentiary hearing or, in the alternative, remand this case for a new trial.

## **VERIFICATION OF DAMIAN SHEETS, ESQ.**

- 1. I am an attorney at law, admitted to practice in the State of Nevada.
- 2. I am the attorney handling this matter on behalf of Appellant.
- 3. The factual contentions contained within the Opening Brief are true and correct to the best of my knowledge.