IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MICHAEL ALAN LEE,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Dec 24 2018 04:54 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 76330

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Denial of Post-Conviction Writ of Habeas Corpus Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

DAMIAN SHEETS, ESQ. Nevada Bar #010577 Mayfield, Gruber & Sheets 726 S. Casino Center Blvd. Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 598-1299 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant argues that his counsel was ineffective and underqualified. However, these claims are bare, unsupported, and belied by the record. First, Appellant claims that counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the jury instructions. This claim fails because the jury instructions were correct, and even if there was error, the State only argued felony murder by child abuse and there was only evidence of abuse. There was no evidence or argument of neglect.

Next, Appellant claims that counsel was underqualified to represent him. However, this is belied by the record. Within this claim, Appellant argues that he was not aware that the Public Defender's Office could be appointed. This is also belied by the record because Appellant has an extensive criminal history, so he is likely aware of this availability. Further, he requested the retained counsel.

Lastly, Appellant contends that appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to raise an argument on appeal about the jury instructions. Again, this claim fails because the jury instructions were correct, and the State only argued felony murder by child abuse—not neglect, so there is no reasonable probability that the claim would have succeeded on appeal. Thus, this Court should affirm the denial of the petition for writ of habeas corpus.

ARGUMENT

I. APPELLANT HAD EFFECTIVE COUNSEL

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that, "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defense." The United States Supreme Court has long recognized that "the right to counsel is the right to the effective assistance of counsel." <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2063 (1984); <u>see also State v. Love</u>, 109 Nev. 1136, 1138, 865 P.2d 322, 323 (1993).

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, a defendant must prove he was denied "reasonably effective assistance" of counsel by satisfying the two-prong test of <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 686–87, 104 S. Ct. at 2063–64. <u>See also</u> <u>Love</u>, 109 Nev. at 1138, 865 P.2d at 323. Under the <u>Strickland</u> test, a defendant must show first that his counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and second, that but for counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceedings would have been different. 466 U.S. at 687–88, 694, 104 S. Ct. at 2065, 2068; <u>Warden, Nevada State Prison v. Lyons</u>, 100 Nev. 430, 432, 683 P.2d 504, 505 (1984) (adopting the <u>Strickland</u> two-part test). "[T]here is no reason for a court deciding an ineffective assistance claim to approach

the inquiry in the same order or even to address both components of the inquiry if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on one." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 697, 104 S. Ct. at 2069.

The court begins with the presumption of effectiveness and then must determine whether the defendant has demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence that counsel was ineffective. <u>Means v. State</u>, 120 Nev. 1001, 1011, 103 P.3d 25, 32 (2004). "Effective counsel does not mean errorless counsel, but rather counsel whose assistance is '[w]ithin the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases." <u>Jackson v. Warden</u>, 91 Nev. 430, 432, 537 P.2d 473, 474 (1975).

Counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to make futile objections or arguments. <u>See Ennis v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 694, 706, 137 P.3d 1095, 1103 (2006). Trial counsel has the "immediate and ultimate responsibility of deciding if and when to object, which witnesses, if any, to call, and what defenses to develop." <u>Rhyne v.</u> <u>State</u>, 118 Nev. 1, 8, 38 P.3d 163, 167 (2002).

Based on the above law, the role of a court in considering allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel is "not to pass upon the merits of the action not taken but to determine whether, under the particular facts and circumstances of the case, trial counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance." <u>Donovan v.</u> <u>State</u>, 94 Nev. 671, 675, 584 P.2d 708, 711 (1978). This analysis does not mean that

the court should "second guess reasoned choices between trial tactics nor does it mean that defense counsel, to protect himself against allegations of inadequacy, must make every conceivable motion no matter how remote the possibilities are of success." <u>Id.</u> To be effective, the constitution "does not require that counsel do what is impossible or unethical. If there is no bona fide defense to the charge, counsel cannot create one and may disserve the interests of his client by attempting a useless charade." <u>United States v. Cronic</u>, 466 U.S. 648, 656 n.19, 104 S. Ct. 2039, 2045 n.19 (1984).

"There are countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case. Even the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S. Ct. at 689. "Strategic choices made by counsel after thoroughly investigating the plausible options are almost unchallengeable." <u>Dawson v. State</u>, 108 Nev. 112, 117, 825 P.2d 593, 596 (1992); <u>see also Ford v. State</u>, 105 Nev. 850, 853, 784 P.2d 951, 953 (1989). In essence, the court must "judge the reasonableness of counsel's challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel's conduct." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 690, 104 S. Ct. at 2066.

Even if a defendant can demonstrate that his counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, he must still demonstrate prejudice and show a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different. <u>McNelton v. State</u>, 115 Nev. 396, 403, 990 P.2d 1263, 1268 (1999) (citing <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S. Ct. at 2064). "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." <u>Id.</u> (citing <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 687–89, 694, 104 S. Ct. at 2064–65, 2068).

The Nevada Supreme Court has held "that a habeas corpus petitioner must prove the disputed factual allegations underlying his ineffective-assistance claim by a preponderance of the evidence." <u>Means v. State</u>, 120 Nev. 1001, 1012, 103 P.3d 25, 33 (2004). Furthermore, claims of ineffective assistance of counsel asserted in a petition for post-conviction relief must be supported with specific factual allegations, which if true, would entitle the petitioner to relief. <u>Hargrove v. State</u>, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984). "Bare" and "naked" allegations are not sufficient, nor are those belied and repelled by the record. <u>Id.</u> NRS 34.735(6) states in relevant part, "[Petitioner] *must* allege specific facts supporting the claims in the petition[.]... Failure to allege specific facts rather than just conclusions may cause your petition to be dismissed." (emphasis added).

A. Trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to challenge jury instructions

Trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to challenge jury instructions because the State's theory of the case, and all argument and evidence presented, demonstrated that Appellant willfully, intentionally, and directly killed Brodie via blunt-force trauma. The district court found the following: 1) throughout the case, the State's theory of death was that the child died by child abuse, and there is nothing in the record indicating neglect; and 2) the jury instructions did mirror the evidence, the State's theory throughout the case, and the evidence that came out during the trial. 6 AA 1006, 1017.

Appellant attempts to analogize the instant case to the unpublished Nevada Supreme Court case <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 2016 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 79, *2 2016 WL 315216 (Nev. 2016), and a published case, <u>Labastida v. State</u>, 115 Nev. 298, 986 P.2d 443 (1991). AOB 15–18. These cases, while facially similar, are inapplicable because the issues raised in those cases do not apply in Appellant's case.

In <u>Labastida</u>, the Court held that "we are not willing to read NRS 200.030(1)(a) so as to define first degree murder to include a murder which is perpetrated by means of child neglect." <u>Labastida</u>, 115 Nev. at 303, 986 P.2d at 446. Additionally, the Court found that because the jury did not convict Labastida of child abuse causing substantial bodily harm, "the evidence presented below simply [did not] justify an assumption that the jury could have found Labastida guilty of committing an act or acts with the intent to cause the child pain or suffering and at the same time acquitted her of willfully causing the child to suffer physical pain or mental suffering, either directly or by aiding and abetting Strawser." <u>Id.</u> at 304, 986 P.2d at 447. In essence, the error committed allowed for the possibility that the jury could have convicted Labastida of felony murder by child abuse when they only

found that she committed child neglect, as evidenced by their acquittal on the child abuse causing substantial bodily harm charge. The <u>Thompson</u> Court assigned the same error, specifically addressing that "[b]ecause of the State's argument, it is unclear whether the jury convicted Thompson of first-degree felony murder for conduct prohibited by the felony murder statute or for conduct merely prohibited by NRS 200.508." <u>Thompson</u>, 2016 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS at *5.

In the instant case, no such error was possible because the State never argued that Appellant could have allowed Brodie to die through neglect. Instead, the State argued only, and repeatedly, that Appellant directly killed Brodie through blunt force trauma. For example, the State, during introductions, summarized what the case was going to show as follows:

> "This case involves the death of Brodie Aschenbrenner who was murdered on June 15th of 2011. The State alleges that the defendant beat Brodie Aschenbrenner to death."

1 AA 18.

During Opening Statements, the State argued that:

"Most importantly, [Dr. Gavin will] tell you that this was a homicide. This was child abuse. Someone inflicted these wounds. This isn't accidental."

"At the end of this trial, we're going to ask you to find the defendant guilty of first degree murder for beating Brodie and causing his death."

2 AA 207, 209–10.

During closing arguments, the State further argued that Appellant beat Brodie

and caused his death – a direct act of child abuse and not child neglect:

"The elements are listed here, somewhat similar as to the child abuse charge. The defendant willfully caused blunt force trauma in some unknown manner -- same idea as with the other count -- to Brodie's abdomen. This one resulted in his death.

As I stated previously, *it doesn't matter what the defendant intended when he beat Brodie. It only matters he intended to beat him. If he killed Brodie when he beat him, causing his death, and it was unintentional, he didn't want him to die, it doesn't matter for purposes of murder by child abuse.* You beat a kid, you run the risk. Malice is implied. A malignant and abandoned heart is implied. You beat a kid, you run the risk of killing him, first degree murder."

•••

"So with that said, we know that the car accident or fender bender means nothing here. It wasn't an accident. We know that the nature, severity and extent of those injuries indicate they were caused by someone else.

We know it wasn't the Power Wheels incident. That's an accident, right? Well, it's not an accident what happened here. Those are eliminated for you. You don't have to worry about that.

Most importantly in my opinion is the Bambam injuries are ruled out. Bambam injuries are inherently accidental. If this is a kid running around banging his head on stuff and banging his body on stuff, those are accidents. That's ruled out. This was homicide. You don't have to worry about that."

•••

"And most importantly, you can't ignore those symptoms when we're talking about timing of the injuries. You can't ignore those. That's common sense. This kid had a transected internal organ, completely severed internal organ. If you believe that he didn't show symptoms almost immediately after that, we disagree completely. That is a little boy with an internal injury so severe that it's only seen or usually seen in major car accidents, fatal car accidents. He's showing symptoms almost immediately after that injury's inflicted."

"Again I'll highlight for count two, the substantial bodily harm, who was alone with him during the operative time period? The defendant.

Who was alone with him during the operative time period that the fatal injury occurred? The defendant. The head injury, we know now, happened after Monday night dinner, some point before Tuesday morning, because Brodie woke up on Tuesday, per Arica, and had a headache; his head hurt. That's the first sign of symptoms. Arica wasn't alone with him Monday night. The defendant was.

The duodenum. Remember the hair salon, they did -- they ran these errands throughout the day on Tuesday. They went to Shark Reef, they went to a number of different places. They got to the hair salon. Brodie's fast asleep already showing symptoms from the head injury. He's exhausted, didn't want to walk. He's fast asleep in the back in the center, facing forward in his car seat. She gets out, she closes the door gently so she doesn't wake her sleeping baby. She comes back within five minutes and that kid's screaming at the top of his lungs. *Once again the defendant is alone with him and the defendant blames it on something else; says when you closed the door, he started freaking out. That's when that fatal injury was inflicted.* That's within the operative time period.

Brodie starts vomiting later. Brodie won't eat his lasagna. Mom has to force feed him the lasagna. She wants him to eat.

Those injuries are not accidental. Those injuries are not inflicted by Arica. They're inflicted by one person and one person alone.

Those injuries are not accidental. They're not inflicted by Arica. One person and one person alone inflicted them.

Those injuries. Not accidental. Not inflicted by Arica.

Those injuries. Definitely not accidental. Definitely not inflicted by Arica.

I'll remind you one more time it doesn't matter whether there was an intent to kill. It matters who beat him, who intended to beat him, and who caused his death. Find that defendant guilty of both those counts. Thank you."

5 AA 871-72, 874, 880-81 (emphasis added).

Finally, during rebuttal argument, the State again emphasized that

Appellant killed Brodie through child abuse:

"Now, [Brodie's] body tells you that he was the victim of significant physical abuse over a period of time. Now we focused

somewhat unfairly so on two injuries, the injuries to the head and the injuries to the abdomen. But he has a lot more injuries. And the most compelling evidence in this case and I would submit to you simply uncontroverted is the distinction between Bambam injuries and *non-accidental physical abuse*.

Every single person who took this witness stand in this trial told you that what you see at autopsy are not Bambam injuries. Every single person.

Even the defendant's sister, as you saw when I showed her the photographs at autopsy, had a physical reaction to what she was seeing. No one had seen those before. No one. *That is because they are indicative of physical abuse, child abuse, intentionally inflicted upon this child.* And as I just heard counsel's argument to you is that's the murder. That's the killer right in front of you."

"Exhibit 66. That is a hand, ladies and gentlemen. And I'm going to ask you to do -- keep in mind two things about that. Number one is it's unmistakably because of the scalloped, the number, where the thumb would be of what's right underneath the skin. And the internal organs as you go from anatomically from what you just saw inside Brodie's body, you have the lower abdomen, but you also have his rib. His eighth rib was fractures. Another injury that we haven't talked a lot about. But once again indicative of child abuse."

"Brodie was murdered. But not by Arica. By that man sitting right in front of you. And I respectfully submit the evidence is overwhelming to that effect. Hold him accountable and convict him of first degree murder."

5 AA 894, 899–900 (emphasis added).

The State's theory of the case, argument, and evidence presented demonstrated only that Appellant killed Brodie through the intentional act of beating him hard enough to break a rib and dissect Brodie's duodenum. For the purposes of felony murder: "Child abuse' means physical injury of a nonaccidental nature to a child under the age of 18 years." NRS 200.030(6)(b). The State consistently argued

that Appellant willfully inflicted a physical injury of a non-accidental nature to Brodie, a child under the age of 18 years. Therefore, the State argued precisely the elements of felony murder child abuse.

Counsel was not ineffective for failing to challenge the jury instructions at trial because there was no evidence that supported a finding that Appellant had committed child neglect – only child abuse. As Appellant states, "[b]oth medical experts argued that the injury was not accidental." 5 AA 959.

Further, even if counsel were deficient, Appellant cannot demonstrate prejudice. Again, even if the jury instructions were incorrect, the State argued the correct elements of felony murder child abuse. Unlike Labastida and Thompson, there was no possibility that Appellant could have been erroneously found guilty based on child neglect because there was no evidence or argument presented that neglect occurred. Also, unlike Labastida, where the Court reversed an earlier decision, in part, because the jury did not find the defendant guilty of child abuse with substantial bodily harm, leading to the inference that the defendant did not inflict a non-accidental physical injury, here the jury found Appellant guilty of that charge. Had counsel challenged the jury instructions, and had those instructions replaced the instructions given, Appellant would still have been found guilty because the State argued the correct elements of felony murder child abuse, and no alternative "neglect" finding was possible.

Thus, Appellant cannot demonstrate that counsel's actions fell below an objective standard of reasonableness nor prejudice, so Appellant's claim should be denied.

B. Appellant's remaining claims of ineffectiveness are unsubstantiated

Appellant claims that his counsel was "unqualified." AOB 19. Appellant also claims that he was not informed that the Public Defender's office could be appointed. <u>Id.</u> Appellant's vague assertions that trial counsel was ineffective because she was "not qualified" are "bare" and "naked" assertions fit only for summary dismissal. <u>Hargrove</u>, 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 225. Further, Appellant does not cite to the record to show where counsel was allegedly unqualified. <u>Mazzan v. Warden</u>, 116 Nev. 48, 75, 993 P.2d 25, 42 (2000) ("Contentions unsupported by specific argument or authority should be summarily rejected on appeal.")

Additionally, these claims are belied by the record. <u>Hargrove</u>, 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 225. A review of the court filings demonstrate that counsel argued, before, during, and after trial, effectively on behalf of her client. Also, Appellant exercised his qualified right to choose counsel. <u>Ryan v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Ct.</u>, 123 Nev. 419, 426, 168 P.3d 703, 708 (2007).

Appellant's claims regarding defense counsels' interactions with each other are unsupported by evidence, and do not require relief. AOB 19–20. They certainly do not demonstrate ineffectiveness by a preponderance of the evidence. <u>Means</u>, 120 Nev. at 1012, 103 P.3d at 33. Even if Nadia Von Magdenko were deficient in any way—which the State disputes entirely—then at worst she was supported by attorney Steve Altig, who was present through trial and who, according to Appellant, provided effective counsel. AOB 21. Appellant, therefore, cannot demonstrate prejudice because he was represented at trial by at least one attorney who he admits was not ineffective.

The district court found that Appellant chose to retain counsel so he cannot argue now that more qualified counsel could have been appointed. 6 AA 1006, 1018. The court had canvassed Appellant about whether he wanted to retain Nadia Von Magdenko and Appellant confirmed that he did. <u>Id.</u> Appellant had an extensive criminal history, which made him aware that a Public Defender could be appointed. Id.

Further, Appellant claimed below that the Nevada Supreme Court, in its Order of Affirmance, was critical of counsel's performance because counsel "opened the door" to repeated use of autopsy photos. 5 AA 959. This claim is belied by the record. <u>Hargrove</u>, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984). "[T]he contested images, both below and on appeal, depict Brodie's external injuries." 5 AA 938. The Court first rejected Appellant's argument because the photos "had a high probative value." 5 AA 939. Second, because the photos were highly probative, "they would need to be exceedingly gruesome for the district court to have abused its discretion

in admitting them." 5 AA 940. Nor was the Court in any way critical of trial counsel's performance. Appellant's claim is, therefore, wholly unsupported and belied by the record.

In denying the petition, the district court highlighted that this Court already decided that the autopsy photographs were more probative than prejudicial. 6 AA 1007, 1019. The court found that the photographs were highly relevant to the State's case and in determining when certain injuries happened. <u>Id.</u>

Therefore, because Appellant's claims are vague, unsupported, and belied by the record, Appellant's claims should be denied.

C. Appellant has not demonstrated ineffectiveness of appellate counsel

There is a strong presumption that appellate counsel's performance was reasonable and fell within "the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." <u>See United States v. Aguirre</u>, 912 F.2d 555, 560 (2nd Cir. 1990) (citing <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S. Ct. at 2065). A claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel must satisfy the two-prong test set forth by <u>Strickland</u>. <u>Kirksey v. State</u>, 112 Nev. 980, 998, 923 P.2d 1102, 1114 (1996). In order to satisfy <u>Strickland</u>'s second prong, the defendant must show that the omitted issue would have had a reasonable probability of success on appeal. <u>Id.</u>

The professional diligence and competence required on appeal involves "winnowing out weaker arguments on appeal and focusing on one central issue if possible, or at most on a few key issues." Jones v. Barnes, 463 U.S. 745, 751-52, 103 S. Ct. 3308, 3313 (1983). In particular, a "brief that raises every colorable issue runs the risk of burying good arguments . . . in a verbal mound made up of strong and weak contentions." Id. at 753, 103 S. Ct. at 3313. For judges to second-guess reasonable professional judgments and impose on appointed counsel a duty to raise every 'colorable' claim suggested by a client would disserve the very goal of vigorous and effective advocacy." Id. at 754, 103 S. Ct. at 3314.

Appellant's sole claim of ineffectiveness of appellate counsel appears to be that appellate counsel did not raise the jury instruction issue. AOB 18. The district court found that there is no showing that the appeal outcome would have been any different if other issues had been raised and found the argument meritless. 6 AA 1006–07. As argued in Section I A, supra, there was no reason to raise the issue because it was unlikely to succeed on appeal. Counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to make futile arguments. <u>Ennis</u>, 122 Nev. at 706, 137 P.3d at 1103. Thus, Appellant's claim that appellate counsel was ineffective should be denied.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the State respectfully requests that the Denial of the Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus be AFFIRMED.